
 

South Hams Executive 

 

Title: Agenda 

Date: Thursday, 26th May, 2022 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: Council Chamber - Follaton House 

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Pearce 

 Vice Chairman Cllr Bastone 

 Members: Cllr Baldry 
Cllr Hawkins 
 

Cllr Holway 
Cllr Hopwood 
 

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation: 

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's register or local non pecuniary 
interest which they have in any item of business on the agenda (subject to the 
exception for sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest. 

Committee 
administrator: 

Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

  Page No 

 

1.   Minutes 1 - 8 

 to approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held 
on 7 April 2022; 
 

 

2.   Urgent Business  

 brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman; 
 

 

3.   Division of Agenda  

 to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is likely to lead to the 
disclosure of exempt information; 
 

 

4.   Declarations of Interest  

 In accordance with the Code of Conduct, Members are invited to declare any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other Registerable Interests and Non-
Registerable Interests including the nature and extent of such interests they may 
have in any items to be considered at this meeting; 
 

 

5.   Public Question Time 9 - 10 

 a period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with questions submitted to the 
Council in accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules; 
 

 

6.   Executive Forward Plan  
 

11 - 14 

7.   Housing Crisis Update - Strengthening Housing Delivery  
 

15 - 26 

8.   Council Tax Rebate Discretionary Scheme  
 

27 - 50 

9.   Contact Centre Service Review Update  
 

51 - 60 

10.   Planning Improvement Plan Update  

 To follow  



 Executive 7.4.22 

 

 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF 

THE EXECUTIVE 

HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER ON THURSDAY, 7 APRIL 2022 
 

Members in attendance: 

* Denotes attendance 
Ø Denotes apologies for absence 

* Cllr K J Baldry * Cllr T R Holway 
* Cllr H D Bastone (Vice Chairman) * Cllr N A Hopwood 
* Cllr J D Hawkins * Cllr J A Pearce (Chairman) 

 

Non-Executive Members also present either in person or remotely for all or 
part of the meeting: 

Cllrs, Birch, Brazil, Reeve, Spencer and Taylor 
 

Officers in attendance and participating: 

All items  Senior Leadership Team; Monitoring Officer; and 

Democratic Services Manager 

Item 7 Minute 
E.102/21 

Senior Specialist – Parking 

Item 8 Minute 

E.103/21 

Senior Specialists – Place Making and Housing 

Item 10 Minute 
E.104/21 

Senior Specialist – Climate Change 

Items 11 
and 12 

Minutes 
E.106/21 

and 
E.107/21 

Head of Strategy & Projects 

 

 
E.98/21 MINUTES 

  
 The minutes of the Executive meeting held on 3 March 2022 and the 

Special Executive meeting held on 31 March 2022 were both confirmed 

as a true and correct record. 
 

  
E.99/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items 
of business to be considered during the course of this meeting, but there 

were none made. 
 

 
E.100/21 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

  

The Leader informed that no public questions had been received in 
accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules. 

 

 
 

 
Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 Executive 7.4.22 

 

 
 

E.101/21 EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN 
 

 Members were presented with the most recently published version of the 
Executive Forward Plan that set out items on the agenda for Executive 

meetings for the next four months and duly noted its contents. 
 
 

E.102/21 OFF-STREET PARKING ORDER AMENDMENT 
 

A procedural report was considered that sought the implementation of 
changes within the Council’s Off-Street Parking Places Order so as to 
remain compliant with its enforcement following changes within the 

associated legislation 
 

In discussion, the reasons contained in the published agenda report for 
the proposed amendments at the Dartmouth Market Square and the 
Quayside Leisure Centre, Kingsbridge were reiterated.  

 
It was then: 

 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Head of Assets be authorised to publish notice of 
proposals for the South Hams District Council (Off-Street 

Parking Places) Order 2022 to consolidate with amendments 
to the current off-street parking places order; the 
amendments to be made to be:  

 
1.1  The Dartmouth Market Square, Dartmouth: no parking 

restriction to no parking between 6.00am and 9.00am 
Tuesday, Friday and Saturday;  

1.2  To introduce no parking restrictions along the access 

road to Quayside Leisure Centre to the Off Street 
Parking Order; and  

1.3  For relevant parts of the Order to reflect changes to 
legislation in respect of Parking Enforcement; and 

 

 2. That the Head of Assets be requested to prepare a report 
summarising the representations received in response to the 

notice of proposals for consideration by the Executive before 
making a decision as to whether to make the off-street 
parking places order as proposed or with modifications.  

 
 
E.103/21 BETTER HOMES BETTER LIVES YEAR 2 UPDATE AND 

HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2022-27 
 

The Executive was presented with a report that reviewed progress made 
to date against the themes and priorities during the first year of the 

Housing Strategy and provided the new draft delivery plan for the second 
year. The report also sought approval for the adoption of the Joint South 
Hams and West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 and Joint 

Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 2022-23.  
Page 2



 Executive 7.4.22 

 

 
 

 
In discussion, the following points were raised:- 

 
(a) In recognising the importance of downsizing to free-up additional 

housing, the need to both develop smaller accommodation and to 
offer incentives to downsize were noted; 
 

(b) With regard to the action relating to the establishment of a Community 
Benefit Society with Registered Provider status, the request was 

made for swift progress to be made in order to enable for the 
development and delivery of affordable housing in the South Hams; 

 

(c) Officers apologised for the incorrect initial publication of the 
appendices and reference was made to the correct versions having 

been uploaded as a supplementary paper to the agenda.  A Member 
expressed his personal view that the format of the report (i.e. being 
divided into two parts: the Housing Strategy Action Plan and the 

Homelessness Strategy) was unhelpful and he felt that the two items 
should have been standalone individual agenda items. 

 

It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
  

For Part 1 – Housing Strategy Year 2 Action Plan: 

 
1. That progress made to date on ‘Better Homes, Better Lives’ be 

noted; and 
2. That the Year 2 Action Plan be endorsed; and 

 
For Part 2 – 2022/27 Homelessness Strategy: 
 

3. That, with effect from 1 April 2022, the Joint South Hams and 
West Devon Homelessness Strategy 2022-27 be adopted; and 

4. That, with effect from 1 April 2022, the Joint Homelessness 
Strategy Action Plan 2022-23 be adopted. 

 

 
E.104/21 REVENUE AND BENEFITS SERVICE REVIEW UPDATE 

 

Consideration was given to a report that provided an update on the 
service review undertaken in 2021 across the Revenues & Benefits 

Service, and the actions taken since then to implement the 
recommendations of the Review. 

 
During discussion, reference was made to the current financial pressures 
that were facing households and a Member questioned whether this had 

started to place additional pressures on the Benefits team.  In reply, 
officers made the following points: 

 
- Whilst very early in the 2022/23 Financial Year, there had not yet 

been a noticeable impact on benefits related issues; 

Page 3



 Executive 7.4.22 

 

 
 

- It was intended that a Discretionary Benefits Payment Policy would 
be developed in the upcoming months that would be presented to a 

future Executive Meeting for further consideration; and 
- A Member Briefing on the work of the Benefits Team was to be 

convened in the near future; and 
- The general advice for all local Ward Members was that, for any 

constituents suffering from financial hardship who contacted them, to 

ask those constituents to contact the Council as soon as was 
practically possible. 

 
It was then: 

  

RESOLVED 

  

(i) That the achievements of the Revenues & Benefits Team in 
maintaining core service delivery, whilst also ensuring that 
businesses and residents were supported throughout the 

pandemic through the administration of business grants, 
personal grants such as Track and Trace and administering 

benefits schemes, be recognised; 
 

(ii) That the approach taken following the Revenues & Benefits 

Review and the subsequent Implementation Plan be 
endorsed; 

 
(iii) That the progress of the Revenues & Benefits 

Implementation Plan be noted and a further update in six 

months’ time be requested; 
 

(iv) That the recruitment of a Head of Service for Revenues and 
Benefits, to be funded on a self-funding basis be endorsed. 
That it be noted that the next iteration of the Council’s 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) will increase both 
the annual staffing budget by £45,000 (the Council’s share of 

the staffing cost) and the annual income from council tax by 
£45,000 (to reflect the anticipated increase in council tax 
collection rates by at least 0.5%); and 

  
(v)  That it be endorsed that the stretching targets that the new 

Head of Service will be set, will mean that the Council will 
continue to improve collection rates across council tax and 
business rates generating significant further income for the 

District Council. 
 

 
E.105/21 CLIMATE CHANGE AND BIODIVERSITY ACTION - COUNCIL NET-

ZERO UPDATE 

 

Members considered a report that set out progress and the potential 

carbon savings (or biodiversity net gain) from significant projects aligned 
to two of the three aims as stated in its Climate Change and Biodiversity 
Strategy, these being Aim 1, reducing its carbon footprint to net-zero by 

2030 and Aim 3 increasing biodiversity on its own land by 10% by 2025. 
Page 4



 Executive 7.4.22 

 

 
 

 
The report also contained a business case that recommended the 

investment of a further £500,000, in the form of a loan to Fusion Leisure 
(the chosen provider for the Council’s leisure facilities), to install solar 

arrays on the four leisure centres within the District.  
 

In discussion, the following points were made:- 

 
(a) If ultimately adopted, the proposed reforms to Joint Local Plan Policy 

DEV 32 were recognised to be ground breaking; 
 

(b) Widespread support was expressed for the proposal to install solar 
arrays on the four leisure centres in the South Hams and it was hoped 
that this would be the first of many similar initiatives to come forward 

for Member approval; 
 

(c) The lead Member and lead officers were thanked for their input in 
allocating a grant to the Sustainable South Hams (SSH) organisation.  
Such was the excellent work being undertaken by SSH, a Member 

hoped that this would be the start of a strategic partnership between 
the organisation and the Council; 

 
(d) In respect of Council Car Parks, a Member set out his vision whereby 

affordable housing could be developed above these Car Parks, with 

each of these properties having solar panels installed on their roofs; 
 

(e) With regard to the opportunity for installation of solar panels on 

agricultural buildings, it was acknowledged that the capital finance 
outlay was a major barrier.  As a possible solution to this barrier, the 

Section 151 Officer advised that exploratory and feasibility works 
could be undertaken into whether a loan scheme could be 
established. 

 
It was then: 

 
RESOLVED 

 

1.  That the progress on plans aligned to the aim of the Council being 
net-zero by 2030 and increasing biodiversity on its own land by 

10% by 2025, be noted; 
 
That Council be RECOMMENDED to delegate authority to the Section 

151 Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the lead 
Executive Member for Finance to: 

 
2.  approve and agree the lending terms to Fusion Leisure for a loan 

of up to £500,000 to facilitate solar panel installation across all four 

Council Leisure Centres over the remaining term of the leisure 
contract, in accordance with treasury management advice; and 

 
 
 

 Page 5



 Executive 7.4.22 

 

 
 

3.  update the Council’s Capital Strategy, Investment Strategy and 
Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 for a £500,000 loan 

provision to Fusion Leisure for the solar installation, in accordance 
with treasury management advice. 

 
 
E.106/21 QUARTER 4 INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 

REPORT 
 

Members considered a report that set out the Integrated Performance 
Management report covering the Quarter 4 period (from 1 January 2022 
to 31 March 2022). The report also provided detail on a revised suite of 

operational Key Performance Indicators for the Executive to consider. 
 

In turn, each Executive Member presented relevant aspects of the 
performance report that were related to their respective portfolio areas 
of responsibility and paid particular attention to those actions that were 

currently identified as being ‘not on track’.   
 

 It was then: 
  

RESOLVED 

 

(i) That the progress in achieving our plans as adopted in the 

Better Lives for All Strategy be recognised; 
 

(ii) That the proposed Key Performance Indicators as set out in 

Appendix B of the presented agenda report be endorsed; and 
 

(iii) That the Executive commence work with Lead Officers on 
refining the 2023/24 delivery plans for consideration by 
Council in Autumn 2022. 

 
  

E.107/21 REPORTS OF BODIES 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 17 March 2022 

 

The Executive was invited to consider the following recommendations 

that had arisen from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting  
held on 17 March 2022: 

 

i) O&S.61/21 Leisure Contract – Fusion Annual Report 2021 

 

“That the Executive be RECOMMENDED to establish a Working 
Group to progress the much needed improvement works at Totnes 
Leisure Centre.  The Working Group to consist of the Executive Lead 

for Leisure, the three local Ward Members, a representative of 
Tadpool, a representative of Fusion, and relevant lead officers.  The 

first meeting to be held within four weeks of the Executive decision”. 
 
During discussion, the Executive felt that, instead of establishing a formal 

Working Group, it would be more appropriate for a meeting to be set up.  
Page 6



 Executive 7.4.22 

 

 
 

As a consequence, it was PROPOSED and SECONDED and when put 
to the vote was declared CARRIED. 

 
It was then: 

 
RESOLVED 

 

That a meeting be set up within four weeks of this Executive 
meeting to progress the much needed improvement works at 

Totnes Leisure Centre with invitations to this meeting being 
extended to: the Executive Lead Member for Leisure; the three 
local Ward Members; a representative of Tadpool; a 

representative of Fusion, and relevant lead officers. 
 
 

ii) O&S.62/21 Better Lives For All Thematic Update: Community 

Wellbeing 

 
 “That the Executive be RECOMMENDED to NOTE that ‘Better Lives 

for All’ was not applying to the smaller communities in the South 
Hams and that it should ensure that these communities were better 

represented by the actions in the strategy” 

    
During discussion, a number of Members took issue with this 

recommendation and, in citing a number of examples, felt it was 
unjust. 

 
As a result, Members were not willing to formally accept the 
recommendation and it was PROPOSED and SECONDED that: 

 
‘That the Executive does not accept the recommendation of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee in respect of Minute Reference 
O&S.62/21.’ 
 
When put to the vote, this alternative motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

  It was then: 
 

 RESOLVED 

 

That the Executive does not accept the recommendation of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in respect of Minute 
Reference O&S.62/21: ‘Better Lives for All Thematic Update: 

Community Wellbeing.’  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 7



 Executive 7.4.22 

 

 
 

iii) O&S.63/21 Task and Finish Group Updates: Housing 
 

“That the Executive be RECOMMENDED that: 
 

1. Officers explore the formation of a Strategic Partnership with a 
Housing Association (or Housing Associations) and other partners to 
deliver affordable rented housing through schemes similar to those 

mentioned at discussion point 1 of the attendant report “Affordable 
Rural Housing – Final Recommendations”, with such partnership(s) to 

include the location of suitable sites within the district; and  
 
2. Officers explore the setting up of a Community Land Trust modelled 

on the Cornwall Community Land Trust; including the possibility of 
working with other Devon local authorities in its formation; and  

 
3. The list of exemplar schemes be submitted to officers and that these 

be used to identify best practice for sites in the South Hams.” 
 

In discussion, the Executive felt that, specifically regarding part 3 of the 

recommendation, there was greater work to be undertaken by the Task 
and Finish Group to enable for a more informed decision to be taken.  
Therefore, the Executive was of the view that consideration of this matter 

should be deferred to a future meeting. 
 

It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 

   
That the conclusions of the Review be deferred to a future 

Executive meeting to enable for the Task and Finish Group to 
undertake further work. 

 

 
(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF MINUTE E.105/21 

PARTS 2 AND 3 (WHICH ARE RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE COUNCIL 
MEETING TO BE HELD ON 19 MAY 2022) WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM 
5.00PM ON WEDNESDAY, 20 APRIL 2022 UNLESS CALLED IN, IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULE 18). 

 
 
(Meeting commenced at 10:00 am and concluded at 11.35 am) 
 

______________________ 
Chairman 

Page 8



PUBLIC QUESTIONS AT EXECUTIVE MEETINGS 
 

There is a period of 15 minutes at meetings of the Executive during which 
members of the public can ask questions about items on the agenda. 
 
 
Any member of the public who wants to ask a question should ensure that the 
question: 
 
a)  is no more than 50 words in length; 
 
b) is not be broken down into multiple parts; 
 
c) relates to an item included on the agenda; and  
 
d)  is suitable to be considered.  A question will not be suitable if, for example, 

it is derogatory to the Council or any third party; relates to a confidential 
matter; it is about a specific planning matter; or it is substantially the same 
as a question asked in the past six months. 

 
Questions should be sent to Democratic Services 
(Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk) by 1.00pm on the Monday before the 
meeting (the deadline will be brought forward by a working day if affected by a 
bank holiday). This will allow a detailed response to be given at the meeting. If 
advance notice of the question cannot be given the Chairman of the meeting 
has the discretion to allow questions on matters that are felt to be urgent; 
 
 
 

 
 
 
For any further advice on questions to the Executive, or to request a copy of 
the full Public Questions Procedure Rules, please contact Democratic Services 
(Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk) 
 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk
mailto:Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Executive Leader’s Forward Plan – May 2022 | 1 

Executive Leader’s Forward Plan 

About the Forward Plan 

This is the Leader of Council’s provisional forward plan for the four months starting May 2022. It provides an 

indicative date for matters to be considered by the Executive. Where possible, the Executive will keep to the 

dates shown in the plan. However, it may be necessary for some items to be rescheduled and other items added.  

The forward plan is published to publicise consultation dates and enable dialogue between the Executive and all 

councillors, the public, and other stakeholders. It will also assist the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 

planning their contribution to policy development and holding the Executive to account.  

Local authorities are required to publish updated forward plans on a regular basis. The Plan is published on the 

Council’s website (www.southhams.gov.uk)  

About the Executive 

The Executive consists of six Councillors. Each has responsibility for a particular area of the Council’s work.  

 Leader of the Council with specific responsibility for Improving Homes / Protecting, Conserving and 

Enhancing our Built and Natural Environment– Cllr Judy Pearce 

 Deputy Leader of the Council with specific responsibility for Stimulating a Thriving Economy – Cllr Hilary 

Bastone 

 Lead Executive Member for Environment – Cllr Keith Baldry 

 Lead Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing – Cllr Jonathan Hawkins 

 Lead Executive Member for Climate Change and Biodiversity – Cllr Tom Holway 

 Lead Executive Member for Council Services – Cllr Nicky Hopwood 

Further information on the workings of the Executive, including latest information on agenda items, can be 

obtained by contacting Democratic Services on 01803 861105 or by e-mail to 

democratic.services@swdevon.gov.uk  

All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise 

indicated with * 

  

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

mailto:democratic.services@swdevon.gov.uk


 

 
Executive Leader’s Forward Plan – May 2022 | 2 

Forward Plan from May 2022 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Leader Title: Housing Crisis Update 
Report: Strengthening Housing 

Delivery 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents an update on the 
Council’s declared Housing Crisis 

and proposes a revised Housing 
Team Structure to enable the 
Council to be better placed to 

deal with the Crisis. 

Cllr Pearce / 
Chris Brook 

Report of the 
Director of Place 

and Enterprise 

26 May 2022  

Council  

Services 

Title: Council Tax Rebate 

Discretionary Scheme 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the draft 

Discretionary Scheme for 
approval. 

Cllr Hopwood / 

Lorraine 
Mullineaux 

Report of Senior 

Specialist Benefits 

26 May 2022  

Council  
Services 

Title: Contact Centre Review 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the findings of the 

Contact Centre Review. 

Cllr Hopwood / 
Steve 
Mullineaux 

Report of the 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

26 May 2022  

Leader Title: Planning Service 

Improvement Plan Update 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that provides an update on the 
Planning Service Improvement 

Plan. 

Cllr Pearce / 

Drew Powell  

Report of the 

Director of Strategy 
and Governance 

26 May 2022  

Leader Title: Housing Crisis – Standing 
Agenda Item 

Cllr Pearce / 
Chris Brook 

Report of the 
Director of Place 
and Enterprise 

7 July 2022  

Leader Title: Quarter 1 Integrated 
Performance Management 

Report 2022/23 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that sets out the Integrated 

Cllr Pearce / 
Neil Hawke 

Report of the Head 
of Strategy and 

Projects 

7 July 2022  

Page 12



 

 
Executive Leader’s Forward Plan – May 2022 | 3 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Performance Management 
report for Quarter 1 of 2022/23. 

Economy Title: Ivybridge Regeneration 
Scheme 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that provides an update on the 
Ivybridge Regeneration Scheme. 

Cllr Bastone – 
Chris Brook 

Report of the 
Director of Place 

and Enterprise 

7 July 2022  

Leader Title: Annual Report 
Achievements 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Council’s draft 
Annual Report of Achievements 
for 2021/22 

Cllr Pearce / 
Neil Hawke 

Report of the Head 
of Strategy and 

Projects 

7 July 2022  

Health and 

Wellbeing 

Title: Partnership Funding 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents an update on the 
Council’s Partnership Funding 
arrangements. 

Cllr Hawkins / 

Neil Hawke 

Report of the Head 

of Strategy and 
Projects 

7 July 2022  

Health and 

Wellbeing 

Title: Health and Wellbeing 

Pilot 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that provides an opportunity for 
Members to have an input into 

the Pilot. 

Cllr Hawkins / 

Ian Luscombe 

Report of the Head 

of Environmental 
Health 

7 July 2022  

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Title: Totnes Leisure Centre 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that provides an update on 
Totnes Leisure Centre 

Cllr Hawkins / 
Chris Brook 

Report of Director 
of Place and 
Enterprise 

7 July 2022  

Leader Title: 2021/22 Revenue Outturn 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the final Revenue 
Outturn figures for 2021/22 

Cllr Pearce / 

Pauline 
Henstock 

Report of the 

Deputy Section 151 
Officer 

7 July 2022  

Page 13



 

 
Executive Leader’s Forward Plan – May 2022 | 4 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Deputy 
Leader 

Title: 2021/22 Capital Outturn 

Purpose: To consider a report 

that presents the final Capital 
Outturn figures for 2021/22. 

Cllr Bastone / 
Pauline 

Henstock 

Report of the 
Deputy Section 151 

Officer 

7 July 2022  

Leader Title: Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the Five Years 
2023/24 to 2027/28 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that sets the strategic intention 
for all  of the different strands of 
funding available to the Council. 

Cllr Pearce / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of the 
Section 151 Officer 

15 September 
2022 

 

Council  Title: Capital Programme 
Monitoring Report to Month 4 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Capital 
Programme Monitoring Report 

to Month 4. 

Cllr Bastone / 
Pauline 

Henstock 

Report of Head of 
Finance 

15 September 
2022 

 

Council  Title: Revenue Budget 

Monitoring Report to Month 4 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Revenue 

Budget Monitoring Report to 
Month 4. 

Cllr Bastone / 

Lisa Buckle 

Report of Section 

151 Officer 

15 September 

2022 

 

 

Page 14



Report to: Executive 

Date: 26th May 2022 

Title: Housing Crisis Update – Strengthening 
Housing Delivery  

Portfolio Area: Homes – Cllr Judy Pearce  

 

Wards Affected: all 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 
 

 

  

Author: Isabel Blake Role: Head of Housing 

Contact: Telephone 01822 813551 email: 
Isabel.blake@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the Executive:  

1.  endorse the proposed approach to increase resources within 
the Housing Delivery Team and note the revised Housing 
Team Structure detailed in Appendix 1. 

 

2.  RECOMMEND to Council, to approve an annual revenue cost 
pressure of £44,700 (SHDC share) to be built into the budget 
process for 2023/24 onwards, and a one off expenditure of 
£150,780 to be funded from the 2021/22 Government 
Homeless Prevention grant. This funding will double the 
resource in the housing delivery team and drive forward the 
ambitions of the Council in tackling the Housing Crisis.  

 
1. Executive summary  

 
1.1. In September 2021, the Council declared a Housing Crisis. At the 

same time, it set out a range of activities it would undertake to 
tackle the crisis. The Leader of the Council and Executive Member 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



for Homes has requested that an update be provided, to the 
Executive at their monthly committee. 
 

1.2. The Council has been clear with it priorities around Housing and 
delivering homes for local people whilst making best use of 
existing stock in accordance with Better Lives for All and Better 
Homes Better Lives (The Housing Strategy). Following a 
resources review to deliver against these aspirations, it is 
recommended that changes to staffing levels and structure be 
made to the Housing Team.  

 
1.3. This report sets out the measures officers are taking to readdress 

this imbalance to ensure there is sufficient capacity within the 
team to drive forward the projects within the housing strategy, 
sites within our ownership at Kingsbridge and St Anns, exploring 
a strategic partnership with a Registered Provider and 
accelerating our work to bring forward affordable led schemes. 
All whilst continuing to deliver the various statutory functions to 
the best standard possible. 

 
1.4. The proposal is that the Housing Delivery team, who deal with 

the enabling role of the council is increased 100% (by 4 FTE) to 
7.8 FTE. This will help realise a range of strategic ambitions in 
both South Hams and West Devon and be key in both Councils 
responses to the Housing Crisis. The aim is to achieve this 
through a mix of flexing existing resources within the Housing 
Options team, whilst recruiting new permanent and temporary 
resources. 

 
2. Background  

2.1. The Council has a number of functions regarding housing and 
the current structure is appended to this report (appendix 1). A 
number of those are statutory, which the Council must perform – 
particularly in relation to homelessness and housing advice. The 
team is high performing with a proven track record in homeless 
prevention, effective use of temporary accommodation and 
significant reductions in rough sleeping. The Council also own its 
own temporary accommodation and manages private sector 
accommodation on behalf of private landlords through our own in 
house letting agency Seamoor Lettings.  
 

2.2. The Council also has a strategic and enabling role, 
responsible for negotiating affordable housing contributions with 
developers, working with our RP (registered provider) partners on 
S106 contributions, redevelopment, land opportunities and 
disposals. Gypsy & Traveller projects, policy, strategy and support 
to the development management and JLP teams are also service 
functions of this team. This team consists of 3 officers, 1 of which 
is a temporary resource and it is within this team (called housing 
delivery) where the staffing numbers are inadequate to address 
the housing crisis to the best of our ability. 
 

Page 16



2.3. The Council declared a Housing Crisis in the autumn of 2021 
and the reconfiguration of resources and additional resources will 
enable the Council to create real momentum. Specifically: 
 
2.3.1. Working on providing the necessary evidence base and 

housing need analysis to ensure that members will have a 
choice in the future to seek to go further than the JLP currently 
does in its ask for affordable housing. The work will inform 
further iterations of the Housing Strategy and importantly be a 
direct contributing factor in S106 negotiations with developers. 
 

2.3.2. Enable closer interaction and engagement with our 
Registered Providers (RPs) at both a strategic and operational 
level.  

 
2.3.3. Commission and develop a strategic partnership with a 

Registered Provider to unlock delivery of new affordable homes 
on both Council land and elsewhere. 

 
2.3.4. Bring forward opportunities to purchase land and commission 

affordable social housing. 
 
2.3.5. By having a dedicated planning resource, ensure that 

schemes that are delivering affordable homes are progressed 
through the planning system efficiently, delivering the 
maximum number of affordable homes possible. 

 
2.4. This proposal also takes into account the additional workload 

pressures such as the Homes for Ukraine scheme and maintains 
the number of FTE in Housing Advice & Homelessness Prevention 
team. 
 

2.5. The total additional annual cost of the proposal for South 
Hams is £44,700 that it is recommended is built into the budget 
process for 23/24 onwards as a cost pressure. In addition, an 
amount of £150,780 will be funded from the Government homeless 
prevention grant for 21/22. This will fund the fixed term posts set 
out in appendix 1. 
 

3. Existing workload and structure 
 
3.1. Housing Advice & Homelessness Prevention 

 
3.1.1. Development & ongoing monitoring of the Homelessness 

Strategy, which is a statutory function. A range of legal duties 
and powers that are the responsibility of the Local Authority. 
And; 

SeaMoor 
Lettings  
 

Development and management of temporary 
accommodation and owned stock portfolio 

Page 17



 
3.1.2. Existing team  
 2 x FTE L4 Specialists 
 7.8 FTE Housing advisors 
 1 FTE Team Leader 
 1.8 FTE Seamoor lettings / Temporary accommodation  
 1 FTE Vulnerable person support (Temporary external funding) 
 2 FTE Rough sleeper / G&T Outreach (1 post temporary 

external funding) 
 0.8 FTE DHC (Devon Home Choice) 

 
 Total FTE 16.4 

Develop owned stock property/Seamoor offer to provide 
HMO, learning dis, Young Persons, adapted property 
Work with assets to identify stock options that can be 
developed into housing  
Establish and monitor KPI’s 
Develop and maintain the landlord engagement section 
including referring in for advice  
 

Refugee 
work 
 

Ukraine resettlement work  
Implementing, coordinating the provision and arrival 
planning for refugees under the UKRS & ALES scheme 
and ongoing high level management  
 

Housing 
Options 
team  
 

Case support for individuals at risk of homelessness 
Deal with homelessness presentation and the discharge 
of the Councils legal duties surrounding this. 
Provide temporary accommodation. Manage those in 
temporary accommodation so that they find permanent 
solutions as quickly as possible 
Homelessness Reviews 
Devon Home Choice Reviews 
Devon & Cornwall Housing options Partnership 
Devon Homelessness Health Cell 

Vulnerable 
person work 
 

Signpost and support individuals 
Co-ordinate 3rd sector partners 

Rough 
Sleepers  
Gypsies & 
Travellers/ 
Caravan 
Dwellers 

Manage projects including Outreach, property 
acquisition, negotiate with RPs,   

Other  Safeguarding lead 
Perpetrator programme accommodation work 
work with MH & Adult service regarding current housing 
needs etc. for those with additional support needs  
Homemaker contract tender and management 
Care Leavers (16/17 year olds 
 

Page 18



 
3.2. Housing Delivery 

 
Housing 
Enabling  
 

 Managing the undertaking of viability assessments 
to get best value. 

 Decision making within policy for housing 
schemes and discretion in taking action in relation 
to housing delivery  

 Engagement across RPs on the housing mix 
requirements and aligning delivery with need and 
political preference to deliver better location 
specific outcomes 

 Develop and implement housing policy to support 
housing delivery and best use of existing stock 

 Research and development 
 Reporting on Housing and Corporate Strategy 

progress, updating action plan and ensuring it 
accords with Corporate Strategy format 

 Drafting and presenting Housing Crisis reports at 
Executive and Hub 

 Project managing the formation of a housing 
company, including articles of association, 
reserved matters and governance 

 Ensure effective partnership working with a range 
of providers, funders and 3rd sector organisations 
(Alms houses, LT’s HE) 

 Town & Parish & community liaison  
 Work to identify sites, initiatives, secures funding 

and monitors delivery 
 Deliver bespoke housing solutions for a small 

number of individuals whose housing options 
cannot otherwise be met  

 Monitor S106 Expenditure/commuted sums 
manage and make recommendations as to where 
funding should be spent 

 Complete the selection criteria, liaison with 
communities/ward members, completion, 
publication and information sharing of Housing 
Needs Surveys and manage effectively the 
Housing needs survey administrator 

 Supporting the JLP housing team through the JLP 
review to include: 

o Setting housing policy and testing what is 
possible 

o Informing through appropriate evidence 
base 

o Commissioning and undertaking housing 
needs surveys 

o Setting outcomes and work programme for 
Housing Analyst to support the above, in 
partnership with the Place Team 

 

Page 19



Devon 
Home 
Choice 

Support people through application process, queries etc. 

 
 
 
 
 
3.2.1. Existing team 

 1 x L6 FTE Housing Strategy / Business Intelligence (2 year 
temporary funded) 

 1 x L5 FTE Housing Enabling – Minor schemes/policy 
 1 x L4 FTE Housing Enabling / Strategy 

 
 Total FTE 3 

 
4. Outcomes/outputs 

 
4.1. The Council has set an ambitious plan through Better Lives 

for All and Better Homes, Better Lives (the Corporate and Housing 
strategies) it cannot reasonably be expected to achieve these 
without additional resource to deliver new and emerging work. 
  

4.2. Whilst there is no silver bullet to solving the housing crisis, 
working to smooth the planning process for affordable led 
schemes, dedicated resource to manage strategic partnerships 
and/or direct delivery,  and ensuring our intelligence regarding 
housing need is up to date and robust will all contribute to 
removing the obstacles to success. Accelerated delivery, increase 
of affordable led schemes and the capacity to respond to the need 
of our communities will all be achievable outcomes. 
 

4.3. The new draft structure is attached at Appendix 1. The key 
outcome for doubling resource in the Housing Delivery team is so 
that the Council can realise the ambitions around tackling the 
housing crisis, and the objectives of Better Lives for All.  
 

4.4. The proposal addresses the lack of resource in the Housing 
Delivery team by moving one Senior Specialist role from Housing 
Advice & Homeless Prevention across to support enabling activity 
listed above. To backfill the gap in Housing Advice an opportunity 
to promote existing talent within the team to take on a specialist 
role will be created. 
 

4.5. Further additions to the team include making the housing 
strategy officer permanent, as until 12 months ago there was no 
case management support to this team. Strong administrative 
roles are key to the organisation together with a solid evidence 
base and for this reason, a 2 year fixed term role to carry out 
housing needs surveys is proposed. It is the ambition to have an 
up to date housing needs survey for everywhere in the District, 
either by ourselves or through support to a neighbourhood 

Page 20



planning group and to ensure this is available to provide the 
evidence of where housing is most in need.  
 

4.6. The draft structure also includes an affordable housing led 
planner role. This innovative role demonstrates the Councils 
serious commitment to affordable led schemes. It will allow anyone 
– Registered Provider, Landowner or Developer- who brings 
forward an affordable led scheme, to benefit from a dedicated 
planning resource to advise and support them. It is anticipated that 
this will speed up our element in the process for affordable housing 
and drive speedier delivery. This innovative role is for 2 years and 
if proven results are shown, the Council may wish to look at 
extending further. 
 

4.7. The Council has shown interest through the recent Housing 
Task and Finish housing group and through discussions with the 
portfolio holder, to seek out a strategic delivery partner. This could 
see the Council look at local land acquisitions as a joint venture 
with the purpose of providing more affordable housing locally. It is 
also clear that Members wish to see projects come forward on our 
own limited sites which requires resource to project manage. At 
the moment this is work resourced very much on an adhoc basis 
and needs dedicated resource in the form of a Housing 
Development Officer to set within the housing delivery team. 
 

5. Options available and consideration of risk  
 
5.1. The Council can continue with its existing resource, as it is 

currently meeting its statutory duties regarding homelessness. 
However, these will become harder to perform without affordable 
housing delivery. 
 

6. Proposed Way Forward 
 
6.1. That Members recommend to council approval of both the 

£150,780 from the government homeless prevention grant and to 
build in an additional cost pressure to the budget from 23/24 of 
£44,700 to fund the additional posts and that recruitment 
commences immediately.  
 

7. Implications 
 
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y  The Council has a number of duties to perform 
regarding its statutory housing functions. This 
report requests additional resource to ensure the 
Council continues to deliver these to the best of its 
ability.  

Page 21



The Council has also declared a housing crisis, 
recognising the difficulty accessing accommodation 
for local people. The Council has made its 
ambitions around housing very clear and it is 
essential that where the Council has an opportunity 
to influence affordable housing delivery that those 
opportunities are fully explored. It can only do so 
with sufficient staff resource to do the job 
 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money 
 

Y It is recommended that the Executive recommend 
to Council, to approve an annual revenue cost 
pressure of £44,700 (SHDC share) to be built into 
the budget process for 23/24 onwards, and a one 
off expenditure of £150,780 to be funded from the 
21/22 Government Homeless Prevention grant.  
 
This will be used to fund 60% of the additional 
posts for the new Housing Team Structure shared 
with West Devon Borough Council as set out in 
Appendix 1. 
 
South Hams District Council received a Homeless 
Prevention Government grant of £204,667 for 
2021/22. 
 

Risk Y There are significant service delivery and 
reputational risks if there is insufficient staff to 
deliver the Council’s significant ambitions around 
affordable housing. 
 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy  

Y Improving Homes, Wellbeing, protecting, 
conserving & enhancing our built and natural 
environment, delivering quality council services, 
climate change 

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact  
 
 

N No direct carbon/biodiversity impact arising from 
the recommendations 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 There is no impact on any of the proposals in the 
report. Any recruitment would be in line with our 
equality, diversity & inclusion policy and compliant 
with The Equality Act 2010. 

Safeguarding 
 

 Ensuring there is sufficient resource to deliver the 
housing service, which is also the Councils largest  
referrer for children & adults safeguarding services 
will minimise as much as is possible the risks to 
vulnerable adults and children   

Page 22



Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 Ensuring there is enough resource to deliver the 
housing service, will assist victims of crime 
including domestic violence, and support initiatives 
to address anti-social behaviour in our 
communities. 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 Ensuring there is enough resource to safely deliver 
the housing service will address these concerns 

Other 
implications 

  
 

 
Supporting Information 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Existing & proposed structure 
  
Background Papers: 
None  

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Housing

Housing 
Options

L4 
Housing 
Options 
Steph 
Rixon

DHC 
coordinato

r 1x L7 
(0.8)

Rough 
Sleeper 

outreach 
1x L6

Rough 
sleeper 

outreach 
(funded nov

22)

L4 Housing 
Options 
Sophie 

Cobbledick

L6 Senior 
Housing 
Advisor

Vulnerable 
persons 

officer 1 FTE

Seamoor 
Lettings/ 

Temp  (1.8 
fte) 

L5 Team 
Leader 
Naomi 

Carr

L6 Senior 
Housing 
Advisor

0.8 FTE

5 X L7 
Housing 
Options 
officers

1 x L7 Temp 
(12mths) 
housing 

options officer

Housing 
Enabling

L4 
Housing 
Enabler 

Alex 
RehaagL5 

Housing 
Enabler 

(Cass 
Harrison)

L6 
Housing 
Strategy 
Officer 
(Paula)

Current Structure March 2022

Total 16.4 FTE

Total 3 FTE

P
age 25



Head of Housing

Issy Blake

L3

Housing strategy & 
enabling

L4

Steph Rixon

Devon Home Choice 
Coordinator

(0.8 FTE)

Housing Strategy Officer

L6

Current 2yr Secondment

Request to make permanent 

Affordable Housing 
Planner

L4 New role

2yr fixed term

Housing 
Development Officer

L4 New role

Housing  strategy & 
enabling

L4

Alex Rehaag 

Housing enabling

L5

Cass Harrison

Housing needs Survey

Case officer

L7 New role 

2yr fixed term

Housing Advice and 
Prevention of 
Homelessness

L4

Sophie Cobbledick

Team Leader Housing 
Advice L5

Senior Housing Advisor

L6 (0.8 FTE)

Housing Advisors

L7

5 permanent FTE

Vulnerability Officer

L7

1 FTE fixed term

L5 Specialist

Downgrade / Backfill for 
Steph Rixon existing 

post

Senior Housing Advisor

L6

Senior Housing Advisor

Seamoor Letting / Temp 
Acc. Management

1.8 FTE

Rough Sleeper / G&T 
Outreach

2 FTE 

(1 permanent + 1 fixed 
term) 

Housing DeliveryHousing Advice &

Prevention of Homelessness

Key

Existing roles

New roles

Amended roles

Total 14.6 FTE Total 7.8 FTE

P
age 26



Report to: Executive 

Date: 26th May 2022 

Title: Council Tax Rebate Discretionary Scheme 

Portfolio Area: Council Services - Cllr Hopwood 

Community Wellbeing – Cllr Hawkins 

Wards Affected: All  

Urgent Decision: N Approval and clearance 
obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 
 

 

Author: Steve Mullineaux Role: Director of Customer Service 
Delivery  

Contact: Steve.mullineaux@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

That the Executive:  

 
(i) Approve the Discretionary Council Tax Rebate policy and scheme. 
(ii) Endorse the current approach to distributing the main Government’s 

Council Tax rebate for households in Bands A to D. 
(iii) Note the existing discretionary support schemes the Council operate 

and recommend increasing the public and voluntary sector awareness 
of the schemes and support that are available for residents. 
 

 
1. Executive summary 

 

1.1. Supporting our residents as energy, food and fuel prices rise significantly is a 
key and urgent priority for the Council. 
 

1.2. The purpose of this report is to enable the Executive to make a decision on the 
discretionary element of the Government’s Council Tax Rebate scheme. 
 

1.3. As part of the Government scheme, the Council has been awarded a sum of 
£173,700 (in addition to the main scheme award of £4,332,600), known as the 
Discretionary Fund, to support households who are in need but are not eligible 
for the main £150 Council Tax Rebate scheme.   

 
1.4. As of 13 May 2022, the Council has paid 19,576 households out of 21,316 

eligible Direct Debit payers, 92% and distributed £2,936,400. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Steve.mullineaux@swdevon.gov.uk


 
1.5. The Council has received 1,066 applications (out of 6,710 eligible households) 

from those households that do not pay by direct debit and these will begin 
being processed for payment from 23 May 2022. The Council will be contacting 
the remaining households via direct mail within the next few weeks to offer 
direct payment via local Post Offices. 

 
1.6. The policy attached as Appendix A proposes supporting those residents who 

are working, on low income with limited or no access or financial support from 
existing benefits and other discretionary schemes but are experiencing 
hardship due to the increasing cost of energy bills. 

 
1.7. This report also explains (in Appendix C) what other discretionary schemes the 

Council has in place to support residents and updates members on the 2nd 
tranche of government funding of the Household Support Fund (HSF).  

 
2. Background 

 
2.1. The Government recognises that many households will need support to deal 

with the rising cost of household bills in 2022-23 driven by increasing energy 
bills.  While these rising costs will affect most households across the country, 
they are more likely to disproportionately affect those on lower incomes, who 
tend to spend a higher proportion of their income on utility bills. 
 

2.2. As part of this targeted response to rising energy bills, households liable for 
Council Tax in Bands A – D, along with those in Band E who receive a 
disabled band relief, will be eligible for a non-repayable £150 Council Tax 
rebate.  The household must occupy the property, so this £150 rebate is not 
available to second homes or empty property. 
 

2.3. Alongside the £150 Council Tax rebate, the Government has also provided 
local authorities with an additional sum for a discretionary scheme that can 
be used to top up payments, or for those in need that do not meet the 
eligibility for the main scheme.  
 

2.4. The Government is providing the grant funding for both the main council tax 
rebate (£150) scheme and the discretionary scheme.  The Council will 
receive £4,332,600 for the main scheme, which has to be administered and 
paid out by 30 September 2022. The amount of Government funding 
received will be the same as the actual amount paid out by 30 September.  
The Council will also receive £173,700 for the discretionary scheme which is 
a set amount and this will not be increased. Any discretionary funding not 
paid out by 30 November 2022 will have to be repaid to the Government.  

 
2.5. Within the South Hams area, we currently have 28,026 properties in Bands A 

– D that currently appear as if they may be eligible for the £150 council tax 
rebate. Of this number, 21,316 (approx. 75%) currently have a Direct Debit 
set up to pay their Council Tax, whereas 6,710 (approx. 25%) do not. 
  

2.6. When the £150 Rebate was first announced, the Government required the 
Council to provide residents with a national leaflet within their annual Council 
Tax bill for 2022/23.  We also enclosed our own leaflet giving more detail, 
and how to apply locally. 
 

Page 28



2.7. We have purchased from our Revenue and Benefits software supplier 
additional modules to the software to allow us to identify residents paying 
their Council Tax payers by Direct Debit who may be eligible for the £150 
rebate payment, and to make the payment to them easier. 

 
2.8. The Council has set up an online application form for those residents who 

are eligible for the £150 payment but do not pay by Direct Debit.  For those 
who do not have the ability to apply online, the Customer Services Team are 
happy to help the resident complete their application over the telephone. 

 
2.9. As of 13 May 2022, the Council has paid 19,576 households out of 21,316 

eligible Direct Debit payers, 92% and distributed £2,936,400. 
 

2.10. The Council has received 1,066 applications (out of 6,710 eligible 
households) from those households that do not pay by direct debit and these 
will begin being processed for payment from 23 May 2022. The Council will 
be contacting the remaining households via direct mail within the next few 
weeks to offer direct payment via local Post Offices. This will enable eligible 
residents (the Council Tax liable party) to present the letter they have 
received with associated identification and the Post Office will offer payment 
via cash, into a bank account or directly against an energy bill. 

 

2.11. Any eligible households that have not claimed the rebate by the end of 
August 2022 will have the £150 credited against their Council Tax account. 
 

3. Proposed CTAX rebate discretionary policy 
 

3.1. The purpose of the policy is to determine eligibility for payment under the 
Council’s Discretionary Council Tax Rebate scheme. 
 

3.2. The scheme has been designed based on general guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 3rd 
February 2022. However it is separate to the mandatory Council Tax Rebate 
scheme which is largely determined by Government. 
 

3.3. The scheme is aimed at supporting those residents that are working, on low 
income and have limited or no access to benefits. This makes it difficult to 
quantify the number of residents that will apply. We intend to spend all of the 
allocated monies on struggling residents, therefore we intend to make the 
payments in two phases. Phase one will: 

 
3.3.1. Award a one-off payment of £150 to any household who reside in a 

property dwelling with a Council Tax band E-H and who are currently in 
receipt of Council Tax Reduction. There are currently 243 claims which 
would result in awards totalling £36,450. 

 
3.3.2. Award a one-off payment of £150 to any household who resides in a 

dwelling and where the owner is liable for Council Tax under the Council 
Tax (Liability for Owners) Regulations 1992, but where the household 
are directly liable for energy bills.  This could include people living in a 
house of multiple occupation or someone under the age of 18 etc.  

 
3.3.3. Award a one-off payment of £150 to households who reside in a 

dwelling with a Council Tax band E-H and who are not in receipt of 

Page 29



Council Tax Reduction but have capital of no more than £6,000 and a 
weekly net income less than the following: 

 

 £250 for a single person 
 £320 for a couple 

 £400 for a family (lone parent or couple) with one dependent child 

 £500 for a family (lone parent or couple) with more than one dependent 
child 

 
3.4. The criteria for Phase two will be reviewed in July 2022 once we know how 

many claims we have paid out in 3.3.1 to 3.3.3. 
 

4. Additional Financial Support Schemes. 
 

4.1. The Council supports residents and households in financial difficulty or in 
need of additional financial support with over £6,100,000 of available funds 
through the following schemes; 
 

 £5,720,000 through Council Tax Support (or Council Tax Reduction) 
 £92,000 through Discretionary Housing Payments 

 £80,000 through Exceptional Hardship Fund 

 £273,718 through Household Support Fund 
 

4.2. The schemes are detailed in Appendix C. 
 

5. Proposed Way Forward 
 
5.1. The Executive approves the discretionary policy set out in Appendix A. 

 
5.2. That the Executive receive a further report in September 2022 that will; 

 Update members on the number of households that have received additional 
financial support through phase one of the discretionary scheme and; 

 Set out recommendations for phase two 
 

6. Implications  

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The main criteria for the £150 Council Tax Rebate scheme 
is set out in Government guidance and this cannot be 
varied locally.  
 
The discretionary element however is a matter for the 
Executive as it not part of the Policy Framework or 
otherwise reserved to full Council. 
 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference to 
value for money 
 

 
Y 

The Government are providing the grant funding for both 
the main council tax rebate (£150) scheme and the 
discretionary scheme.  
 
The Council will receive £4,332,600 for the main scheme, 
which has to be administered and paid out by 30 

Page 30



September 2022. The amount of Government funding 
received will be the same as the actual amount paid out by 
30 September. 
 
The Council will also receive £173,700 for the discretionary 
scheme which is a set amount and this will not be 
increased. Any discretionary funding not paid out by 30 
November 2022 will have to be repaid to the Government.  
 

Risk N  

Supporting 
Corporate Strategy  

Y Quality Council Services; ensuring that we make the best 
use of the budget available to us to ensure value for 
money whilst paying people quickly and efficiently. 
Community Wellbeing; supporting residents that are 
financially vulnerable. 
 

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity Impact  

N No direct carbon or diversity impacts arise from this report  

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 None   

Safeguarding 
 

 None   

Community Safety, 
Crime and Disorder 

 None 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 None 

Other implications  None 
 

 
 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Discretionary policy for the Council Tax Rebate 
Appendix B – Mandatory scheme for the Council Tax Rebate 
Appendix C – South Hams District Council additional financial support schemes 
 
Background Papers: 

None 
 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

          

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

   
 

 
 
 
  

South Hams District Council 
Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 

2022-23 

South Hams -Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 1 Page 33



 
 
 

          

 
 

   

         

    

      

       

          

    

           

   

            

         

      

      

              
   

        

        

        

 
  

Contents 

Definitions ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.0 Purpose of the scheme and background. ............................................................................ 4 

2.0 Funding ................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Eligibility criteria and awards............................................................................................... 4 

Effective date for Phase 1 ............................................................................................................ 5 

Alterations to liability or the Council Tax Band............................................................................ 5 

Eligibility Disputes........................................................................................................................ 5 

4.0 How the Council Tax Rebate will be paid ............................................................................ 6 

Direct Debit payers ...................................................................................................................... 6 

Where the Council does not hold current a direct debit instruction for an eligible household .. 6 

5.0 Provision of information to the Council .............................................................................. 7 

6.0 Scheme of Delegation.......................................................................................................... 7 

7.0 Notification of Decisions...................................................................................................... 7 

8.0 Taxation and the provision of information to Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC) ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

9.0 Managing the risk of fraud .................................................................................................. 7 

10.0 Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid................................................................................. 7 

11.0 Data Protection and use of data.......................................................................................... 8 

South Hams -Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 2 Page 34



 
 
 

          

 
 

        
 

          
    

 
          

              
    

 
           

              
      

 
              

            
 

            
    

 
               

            
  

 
               

          
 

             
      

 
              

             
 

            
             
 

 
               

               
      

 
                

   
 
  

Definitions 

The following definitions are used within this document: 

‘Chargeable Dwelling’; means any dwelling that appears on the Council’s Council Tax Valuation 
List on 1 April 2022; 

‘Council Tax Exemption or Exempt Dwelling’; means any chargeable dwelling which is determined 
by the Council as exempt from Council Tax as prescribed by the Council Tax (Exempt Dwellings) 
Order 1992 as amended; 

‘Council Tax Rebate Scheme or Mandatory Scheme; means the scheme announced by the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 3 February 2022 as part of a 
package of support for rising energy costs; 

‘Council Tax Payer or Liable Person’ means the liable person determined by the Council as being 
responsible for Council Tax under section 6 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

‘Council Tax Reduction (or Support)’ means any entitlement awarded under section 13A 1(A) of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

‘Discretionary Scheme or Fund’; means the scheme determined by the Council in line with the 
guidance issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities announced on 3 
February 2022; 

‘Effective Date ; means the effective date of this scheme. The effective date shall be the situation 
as at the end of the day on 1 April 2022 

‘Empty Dwelling (or premises)’ means any dwelling that is not deemed to be the sole or main 
residence of a person and are substantially unfurnished; 

‘Liability for Owner’; means any dwelling determined to fall within the Council Tax (Liability for 
Owners) Regulations 1992, for example, House in Multiple Occupation or Residential Care homes; 

‘Mandatory Scheme’; means the scheme determined by Government in line with the guidance 
issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities announced on 3 February 
2022; 

‘Second Home’ means any dwelling not deemed to be the sole or main residence of the liable 
person and which is furnished as defined by the Council Tax (Prescribed Class of Dwellings) 
(England) Regulations 2003 as amended; and 

‘Sole or main residence’ means the dwelling determined by the Council to be the sole or main 
residence of a person. 

South Hams -Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 3 Page 35



 
 
 

          

       
 

             
         

 
                

            
             

 
         

   
 

            
             

          
            

               
            

          
 

  
 

              
               
 

   
 

                
             

      
 

 
 

                
              

             
               

             
              

            
   

     
    
           
            

 

1.0 Purpose of the scheme and background. 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to determine eligibility for a payment under the Council’s 
Discretionary Council Tax Rebate scheme (the ‘Discretionary Scheme’). 

1.2 The scheme has been designed based on general guidance issued by the Secretary of State 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 3rd February 2022. However, it is separate 
to the mandatory Council Tax Rebate scheme which is largely determined by Government 

1.3 The Council’s Discretionary Scheme is part of a package of support for households in 
respect of rising energy costs. 

1.4 Government has determined that Councils can decide locally how best to make use of the 
discretionary funding to provide payments to other households who are energy bill payers 
but not covered by the mandatory Council Tax Rebate. However, Government has stated 
that occupants of class M (student halls) are unlikely to be eligible for discretionary support, 
unless they are exposed to rising energy prices in a similar way to other households and 
discretionary support should not be offered to occupants of property in exemption class O, 
where the Ministry of Defence will provide cost of living support. 

2.0 Funding 

2.1 Government has provided funding to the Council; however, all payments will have to be 
made prior to the 30 November 2022 which is the deadline for this scheme. 

3.0 Eligibility criteria and awards 

3.1 The Council has decided that payments will be made in two phases, the first phase to be 
commenced immediately and the second phase will be commenced at the expiry of phase 
1 provided funds are available. 

Phase 1 

3.2 The Council has decided that the payments in Phase 1 will be provided to households who 
have their sole or main residence in a dwelling and the following conditions are met: 
(a) A single one-off payment of £150 will be awarded to any household who resides in a 

dwelling with a Council Tax band E to H and who are in receipt of Council Tax Reduction; 
(b) A single one-off payment of £150 will be awarded to any household who resides in a 

dwelling with a Council Tax band E to H and who are not in receipt of Council Tax 
Reduction but have capital of no more than £6,000 and a weekly net income less than 
the following : 

• £250 for a single person; 
• £320 for a couple; 
• £400 for a family (lone parent or couple) with one dependant child; or 
• £500 for a family (lone parent or couple) with more than one dependent child; 

and 

South Hams -Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 4 Page 36



 
 
 

          

             
               

            
                

            
 

 
             

             
 

 
              

             
             

 
 

 
                

           
 

    
 

                
         

 
     

 
             

              
            
 

             
               
          
 

               
              

            
           

 
 

 
                  

             
         

 

(c) A single one-off payment of £150 will be awarded to any household who resides in 
a dwelling and where the owner is liable for the Council Tax under the Council Tax 
(Liability for Owners) Regulations 1992 but where the household are directly liable 
for energy bills. For the sake of clarity, this category will be for household who are 
in Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) where the tenant is responsible for energy 
bills. 

3.3 In the case of 3.1(b), in calculating the amount of capital and net that a household 
possesses, the Council will use the rules as defined by the Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006. 

3.4 For the purpose of the discretionary scheme, a household is a person or group of persons 
occupying a single dwelling, as defined in section 3 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992. No award will be made for any unoccupied premises or second homes. 

Phase 2 

3.5 The criteria for Phase 2 will be announced by the Council in July 2022 subject to funds 
being available. Details will be provided on the Council’s website. 

Effective date for Phase 1 

3.6 The effective date for this scheme is 1 April 2022. The Council will determine eligibility 
based on the position at the end of that day. 

Alterations to liability or the Council Tax Band 

3.7 Where the Council has reason to believe that the information they hold about the valuation 
list, liable taxpayer(s) or residents’ circumstances in respect of 1 April 2022 is inaccurate, it 
will withhold the payment and take reasonable steps to determine the correct information. 

3.8 Where records relating to the liable taxpayer(s) or the residents’ circumstances in respect 
of 1 April 2022 are retrospectively updated, the Council will take reasonable steps to either 
pay the discretionary award or potentially reclaim any payment made. 

3.9 In any case, where the Council Tax band of the chargeable dwelling is amended 
retrospectively after 1 April 2022, for example where a successful appeal is made to the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA) that concluded after this date, the Council is not required 
either to pay any discretionary award or to reclaim any payment made. 

Eligibility Disputes 

3.10 The decision of the Council on any eligibility matter will be final. Should any tax payer feel 
aggrieved by any decision, then matters will be dealt with through the Council’s complaints 
procedure. Full details are available on the Council’s website. 

South Hams -Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 5 Page 37



 
 
 

          

        
 

             
               

            
    

 
   

 
         

           
        

 
                

             
             

             
 

 
              

             
            
              

        
 

               
             

               
 

 
        

 
 

          
            

  
 

               
             

    
 

             
           

               
      

 

4.0 How the Council Tax Rebate will be paid 

4.1 Where the Council determines that all of the eligibility criteria are met in full, payment will 
be made to the household as defined within section 3 above. It should be noted that only 
one discretionary payment will be made per household, regardless of the number of 
occupants or liable Council Taxpayers. 

Direct Debit payers 

4.2 Where the Council holds a current direct debit instruction for a liable Council Taxpayer of 
an eligible household, payment will be made using the bank account details held. Payments 
will be made as soon as practicable. 

4.3 The Council is required to verify that the bank details held are those of the eligible 
household and where multiple residents of an eligible household are jointly and severally 
liable for Council Tax, the full payment will be made to the account for which the direct 
debit is held only. Payment of the award, however, is for the benefit of the household as a 
whole. 

4.4 No payment will be made where the name on the bank details does not match a liable 
party. Should the Council require additional information in order to establish the correct 
person to receive the payment, it is expected that the household provides all necessary 
details as soon as possible. Further details of how this request will be made and 
responsibilities to supply such information are detailed below. 

4.5 It should be noted that the award will be paid on the assumption that the person receiving 
the payment is the liable Council Taxpayer (or would have been if the property were not 
exempt) and that the property meets the criteria on 1 April 2022 as defined with section 3 
above. 

Where the Council does not hold current a direct debit instruction for an eligible 
household 

4.6 Where the Council does not hold a current direct debit instruction for an eligible household, 
it will make reasonable efforts to contact the household and obtain the necessary bank 
details. 

4.7 Where the Council is unsuccessful in contacting the household but where it is of the opinion 
that the household meets the eligibility criteria, the discretionary award will be credited to 
the Council Tax account. 

4.8 In all cases, the Council must ensure that payments are made correctly and where 
appropriate, require households to verify that that they are eligible for the payment. Where 
no such verification can be made or where a household fails to respond to the Council’s 
request, no payment whatsoever shall be made. 

South Hams -Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 6 Page 38



 
 
 

          

      
 

             
            

           
            
    

 
             

             
        

 
    

 
               

            
   

 
    

 
               

 
                  

 
          

     
 

             
              
  
 

      
 

          
           

     
 

      
 

              
            
             

5.0 Provision of information to the Council 

5.1 Residents, owners and managing agents should note that the Council has powers available 
to it under Regulation 3 (1) (c) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992, to request such information to determine the correct liable person for 
Council Tax purposes. Government has stated that these powers may also be used for 
Council Tax Rebate purposes. 

5.2 Failure to respond to such a request, without a reasonable excuse, within 21 days could 
lead to penalties being imposed. The Council therefore encourages all such persons to 
provide any requested information as soon as possible. 

6.0 Scheme of Delegation 

6.1 The Council has approved this scheme. The Council’s Section 151 Officer is authorised to 
make technical policy amendments to ensure the scheme meets the criteria set by the 
Government and the Council. 

7.0 Notification of Decisions 

7.1 All Council Tax Rebate payments shall be made by the Revenues and Benefits Service. 

7.2 All decisions made shall be notified to the liable person either in writing or by email. 

8.0 Taxation and the provision of information to Her Majesty’s 
Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 

8.1 The Council does not accept any responsibility in relation to a taxpayer’s HMRC tax 
liabilities and all taxpayers should make their own enquiries to establish any tax 
position. 

9.0 Managing the risk of fraud 

9.1 The Council will not accept deliberate manipulation of this policy or fraud. Any person 
caught falsifying information to gain a discretionary payment will face prosecution and any 
amount awarded will be recovered from them. 

10.0 Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid 

10.1 If it is established that any payment has been made incorrectly due to error, 
misrepresentation or incorrect information provided to the Council by a taxpayer or 
any other person, the Council will look to recover the amount in full. 

South Hams -Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 7 Page 39



 
 
 

          

 
    

 
             

             
   

11.0 Data Protection and use of data 

11.1 All information and data provided by applicants shall be dealt with in accordance with 
the Council’s Data Protection policy and Privacy Notices which are available on the 
Council’s website. 

South Hams -Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 8 Page 40



 
 
 

                 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   

 
 
 
  

South Hams District Council 
Council Tax Rebate Scheme 2022-23 

South Hams District Council - The Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 – Mandatory Scheme 1 Page 41



 
 
 

                 

 
 

   

         

    

     

    

          

    

           

   

            

         

      

      

    

              
   

        

        

        

 
  

Contents 

Definitions ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.0 Purpose of the scheme and background. ............................................................................ 4 

2.0 Funding ................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Eligibility criteria .................................................................................................................. 4 

Effective date ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Alterations to liability or the Council Tax Band............................................................................ 5 

Eligibility Disputes ........................................................................................................................ 5 

4.0 How the Council Tax Rebate will be paid ............................................................................ 6 

Direct Debit payers ...................................................................................................................... 6 

Where the Council does not hold current a direct debit instruction for an eligible household .. 6 

5.0 Provision of information to the Council............................................................................... 7 

6.0 Scheme of Delegation.......................................................................................................... 7 

7.0 Notification of Decisions...................................................................................................... 7 

8.0 Reviews of Decisions ........................................................................................................... 7 

9.0 Taxation and the provision of information to Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC) ............................................................................................................................................ 8 

10.0 Managing the risk of fraud .................................................................................................. 8 

11.0 Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid................................................................................. 8 

12.0 Data Protection and use of data.......................................................................................... 8 

South Hams District Council - The Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 – Mandatory Scheme 2 Page 42



 
 
 

                 

 
 

        
 

          
    

 
          

              
    

 
           

              
      

 
              

            
 

            
    

 
              

             
 

 
                

          
 

             
      

 
              

             
 

               
               

      
 

                
   

 
  

Definitions 

The following definitions are used within this document: 

‘Chargeable Dwelling’; means any dwelling that appears on the Council’s Council Tax Valuation 
List on 1 April 2022; 

‘Council Tax Exemption or Exempt Dwelling’; means any chargeable dwelling which is determined 
by the Council as exempt from Council Tax as prescribed by the Council Tax (Exempt Dwellings) 
Order 1992 as amended; 

‘Council Tax Rebate Scheme or Mandatory Scheme; means the scheme announced by the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 3 February 2022 as part of a 
package of support for rising energy costs; 

‘Council Tax Payer or Liable Person’ means the liable person determined by the Council as being 
responsible for Council Tax under section 6 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

‘Council Tax Reduction (or Support)’ means any entitlement awarded under section 13A 1(A) of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

‘Discretionary Scheme’; means the scheme determined by the Council in line with the guidance 
issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities announced on 3 February 
2022; 

‘Effective Date ; means the effective date of this scheme. The effective date shall be the situation 
as at the end of the day on 1 April 2022 

‘Empty Dwelling (or premises)’ means any dwelling that is not deemed to be the sole or main 
residence of a person and are substantially unfurnished; 

‘Liability for Owner’; means any dwelling determined to fall within the Council Tax (Liability for 
Owners) Regulations 1992, for example, House in Multiple Occupation or Residential Care homes; 

‘Second Home’ means any dwelling not deemed to be the sole or main residence of the liable 
person and which is furnished as defined by the Council Tax (Prescribed Class of Dwellings) 
(England) Regulations 2003 as amended; and 

‘Sole or main residence’ means the dwelling determined by the Council to be the sole or main 
residence of a person. 

South Hams District Council - The Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 – Mandatory Scheme 3 Page 43



 
 
 

                 

       
 

                
             

          
         

  
 

             
              

          
 

                
              

              
 

 
                

       
 

  
 

              
               
 

  
 

           
             

            
             
          

             
               

        
         
            

     
 

               
              
 

             
              

   
 

1.0 Purpose of the scheme and background. 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to determine eligibility for a Council Tax Rebate under the 
mandatory scheme as set out by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities on 3rd February 2022. This scheme together with the Council’s associated 
Discretionary Fund are part of a package of support for households in respect of rising 
energy costs. 

1.2 The Government has also issued statements on a discount on electricity bills to be paid 
later in the Autumn. It should be noted that this is not part of the responsibility of local 
authorities and is separate from the Council Tax Rebate Scheme. 

1.3 The Council Tax Rebate Scheme is effectively in two parts, the mandatory scheme which is 
covered within this policy and which is largely determined by Central Government, and the 
Discretionary scheme which forms parts of a separate policy which has been agreed by the 
Council. 

1.4 This Council Tax Rebate Scheme is designed to provide single one-off grant of £150 to all 
eligible households who meet the criteria shown within Section 3. 

2.0 Funding 

2.1 Government has provided funding to the Council; however, all payments will have to be 
made prior to the 30 September 2022 which is the deadline for this scheme. 

3.0 Eligibility criteria 

3.1 To provide some immediate relief to households experiencing rising energy costs, while 
targeting those most likely to require support, Government expects the Council to provide 
a £150 one-off payment to a liable Council Tax payer (or a person who would otherwise be 
liable where the dwelling is exempt) for every household that occupies a property which 
meets all of the following criteria on 1 April 2022: 
(a) The chargeable dwelling is valued in Council Tax bands A to D. This includes property 

that is valued in band E but has an alternative valuation band of band D, as a result of 
the disabled band reduction scheme (Reduction for disabilities); 

(b) It is someone’s sole or main residence; or 
(c) is a chargeable dwelling which receives an exemption under classes N (other than 

HMOs for council tax purposes), S, U or W. 

3.2 The above list is not exhaustive and the Council will use its judgement in consideration of 
the aims of the scheme, which is to support households with domestic energy costs. 

3.3 The scheme will not cover any premises which are armed forces accommodation. The 
Ministry of Defence will be in touch with residents in those premises that are currently 
exempt under Class O. 

South Hams District Council - The Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 – Mandatory Scheme 4 Page 44



 
 
 

                 

               
               
              
 

                
             
  

 
  

 
                

         
 

     
 

             
              
            
 

             
               
           
 

               
              

            
            

 
               

              
               
  

 
           

               
             
    

 
 

 
             

                  
              

         

3.4 For the sake of clarity, a property that meets all the criteria but has a nil Council Tax liability 
as a result of Council Tax Reduction will be eligible. However, a premises which is no one’s 
sole or main residence, a second home or an unoccupied premises will not be eligible. 

3.5 For the purpose of the Council Tax Rebate scheme, a household is a person or group of 
persons occupying a single dwelling, as defined in section 3 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. 

Effective date 

3.6 The effective date for this scheme is 1 April 2022. The Council will determine eligibility 
based on the position at the end of that day. 

Alterations to liability or the Council Tax Band 

3.7 Where the Council has reason to believe that the information they hold about the valuation 
list, liable taxpayer(s) or residents’ circumstances in respect of 1 April 2022 is inaccurate, it 
will withhold the payment and take reasonable steps to determine the correct information. 

3.8 Where records relating to the liable taxpayer(s) or the residents’ circumstances in respect 
of 1 April 2022 are retrospectively updated, the Councils will take reasonable steps to either 
pay the Council Tax Rebate or potentially reclaim any payment made. 

3.9 In any case, where the Council Tax band of the chargeable dwelling is amended 
retospectively after 1 April 2022, for example where a successful appeal is made to the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA) that concluded after this date, the Council is not required 
either to pay any Council Tax Rebate or to reclaim any payment made. 

3.10 The Council will however make an exception where a property is a new build and awaiting 
an official banding from the VOA. In these cases, eligibility will be determined based on 
the official band subsequently allocated by the VOA, where this has an effective date 
before or on 1 April 2022. 

3.11 Where a review, proposal, or appeal pre-dating the Government’s announcement of the 
scheme on 3 February 2022 is successful after 1 April 2022 and, as a result, a property 
would have been eligible for the Council Tax Rebate, the Council may accept applications 
under its discretionary scheme. 

Eligibility Disputes 

3.12 Government has stated that it is for the Council to determine eligibility for the Council Tax 
Rebate and, as such, the decision of the Council in this matter will be final. Should any tax 
payer feel aggrieved by any decision, then matters will be dealt with through the Council’s 
complaints procedure. Full details are available on the Council’s website. 

South Hams District Council - The Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 – Mandatory Scheme 5 Page 45



 
 
 

                 

 
        

 
             

             
              

 
 

           
            

             
 

   
 

         
           
        

 
                

             
             

             
 

 
               

             
            
              

        
 

               
             

               
 

 
        

 
 

          
            

  
 

               
              

    
 

4.0 How the Council Tax Rebate will be paid 

4.1 Where the Council determines that all of the eligibility criteria are met in full, a single one-
off payment of £150 will be made to the household. It should be noted that only one 
payment will be made per household, regardless of the number of occupants or liable 
Council Taxpayers. 

4.2 Government has stated that only one mandatory payment should be made to a household 
and therefore if, for whatever reason a household receives more than one payment (for 
example if they move to another Council area), then the payment will be reclaimed. 

Direct Debit payers 

4.3 Where the Council holds a current direct debit instruction for a liable Council Taxpayer of 
an eligible household, payment will be made using the bank account details held. Payments 
will be made as soon as practicable. 

4.4 The Council is required to verify that the bank details held are those of the eligible 
household and where multiple residents of an eligible household are jointly and severally 
liable for Council Tax, the full payment will be made to the account for which the direct 
debit is held only. Payment of the rebate, however, is for the benefit of the household as a 
whole. 

4.5 No payment will be made where the name on the bank details does not match a liable 
party. Should the Council require additional information in order to establish the correct 
person to receive the payment, it is expected that the household provides all necessary 
details as soon as possible. Further details of how this request will be made and 
responsibilities to supply such information are detailed below. 

4.6 It should be noted that the rebate will be paid on the assumption that the person receiving 
the payment is the liable Council Taxpayer (or would have been if the property were not 
exempt) and that the property meets the criteria on 1 April 2022 as defined with section 3 
above. 

Where the Council does not hold current a direct debit instruction for an eligible 
household 

4.7 Where the Council does not hold a current direct debit instruction for an eligible household, 
it will make reasonable efforts to contact the household and obtain the necessary bank 
details. 

4.8 Where the Council is unsuccessful in contacting the household but where it is of the opinion 
that the household meets the eligibility criteria, the Council Tax Rebate will be credited to 
the Council Tax account. 

South Hams District Council - The Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 – Mandatory Scheme 6 Page 46



 
 
 

                 

             
           

               
      

 
      

 
             

            
           

            
    

 
             

             
        

 
    

 
               

            
   

 
    

 
               

 
                  

 
    

 
             

     
 

                  
              

        
 

               
              

 
  

4.9 In all cases, the Council must ensure that payments are made correctly and where 
appropriate, require households to verify that that they are eligible for the payment. Where 
no such verification can be made or where a household fails to respond to the Council’s 
request, no payment whatsoever shall be made. 

5.0 Provision of information to the Council 

5.1 Residents, owners and managing agents should note that the Council has powers available 
to it under Regulation 3 (1) (c) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992, to request such information to determine the correct liable person for 
Council Tax purposes. Government has stated that these powers may also be used for 
Council Tax Rebate purposes. 

5.2 Failure to respond to such a request, without a reasonable excuse, within 21 days could 
lead to penalties being imposed. The Council therefore encourages all such persons to 
provide any requested information as soon as possible. 

6.0 Scheme of Delegation 

6.1 The Council has approved this scheme. The Council’s Section 151 Officer is authorised to 
make technical policy amendments to ensure the scheme meets the criteria set by the 
Government and the Council. 

7.0 Notification of Decisions 

7.1 All Council Tax Rebate payments shall be made by the Revenues and Benefits Service. 

7.2 All decisions made shall be notified to the liable person either in writing or by email. 

8.0 Reviews of Decisions 

8.1 The Council will operate an internal review process and will accept a taxpayer’s request for 
a review of its decision. 

8.2 All such requests must be made in writing to the Council and should state the reasons why 
the taxpayer is aggrieved with the decision of the Council. New information may be 
submitted at this stage to support the taxpayer’s review 

8.3 The case will be reconsidered by a senior officer as soon as practicable, and the taxpayer 
informed in writing or by email of the decision. That decision shall be final. 

South Hams District Council - The Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 – Mandatory Scheme 7 Page 47



 
 
 

                 

          
     
 

             
              
  
 

      
 

          
            

     
 

      
 

                 
            
             
 

     
 

             
             
   

9.0 Taxation and the provision of information to Her Majesty’s 
Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 

9.1 The Council does not accept any responsibility in relation to a taxpayer’s HMRC tax 
liabilities and all taxpayers should make their own enquiries to establish any tax 
position. 

10.0 Managing the risk of fraud 

10.1 The Council will not accept deliberate manipulation of this policy or fraud. Any person 
caught falsifying information to gain a Council Tax Rebate will face prosecution and any 
amount awarded will be recovered from them. 

11.0 Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid 

11.1 If it is established that any Council Tax Rebate has been made incorrectly due to error, 
misrepresentation or incorrect information provided to the Council by a taxpayer or 
any other person, the Council will look to recover the amount in full. 

12.0 Data Protection and use of data 

12.1 All information and data provided by applicants shall be dealt with in accordance with 
the Council’s Data Protection policy and Privacy Notices which are available on the 
Council’s website. 

South Hams District Council - The Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 – Mandatory Scheme 8 Page 48



Appendix C  
South Hams District Council - Additional Financial Support Schemes 
 

Page 1 of 2  2022.05.26 
 

1. Existing Council Tax Support Scheme 
 

1.1. Council Tax Reduction (CTR also known as Council Tax Support CTS) was 
introduced in 2013 and replaced the national Council Tax Benefit Scheme.  The 
CTR scheme for working-age residents is a local scheme that has been designed to 
support people back into work.  
 

1.2. Residents can apply for CTR by completing a claim form on-line. For those in receipt 
of Universal Credit we automatically receive notification of their award direct from 
the DWP. We accept this as their claim form and apply CTR accordingly. For those 
customers that don’t have access to the internet, Customer Services will complete 
an on-line form with them over the phone. 
 

1.3. It should be noted that the scheme for pensioners is, still a national scheme 
prescribed by regulations and cannot be varied locally. 

 
1.4. To date we have 2,726 working age claims in payment with a cost of £2,771,520 

and 2,301 pensioner claims with a cost of £2,949,204.       
 

2. Existing Discretionary Schemes 
 
2.1. The Council currently administers two other discretionary schemes to assist those 

suffering hardship, and we are in the process of setting up a further scheme for the 
second round of the Governments Household Support Fund (HSF) The schemes 
are detailed below. 
 

2.2. Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 

 
2.2.1. For the financial year 2022/23 we have been awarded £91,942 this will be 

further increased in October 2022 but as yet we don’t know by how much. This 
fund is to assist those that are in receipt of Housing Benefit or the Housing 
Element within Universal Credit. It is mainly used to assist those that are 
struggling with the shortfall between their rent and housing benefit, for rent in 
advance, rent deposits and rent arrears etc.  The main criterion for this fund is 
that you have to be in receipt of housing benefit or the housing element of 
universal credit to qualify for any assistance.  

 
2.3. Exceptional Hardship Fund (EHF) 

 
2.3.1. For the financial year 2022/23, we have £28,416 in the fund. This fund is 

available to assist residents who are in receipt of CTR and facing exceptional 
hardship. The fund provides further assistance where the resident is in receipt 
of CTR but the level of support being paid does not meet their full Council Tax 
liability.      

 
2.4. To make a claim from either of the above funds claimants generally have to 

complete an on-line claim form, the form includes a section on income and 
expenditure, this detail enables Officers to gauge how much financial hardship the 
claimant is suffering and therefore allows them to make the decision on how much 
they need to award. In certain circumstances, the Officer may feel the need to refer 
the claimant to Homemaker for further financial or budgeting assistance.  
 

2.5. The fund is also used to make direct awards following recommendations from the 
Job Centre and the Housing. 

Page 49



Appendix C  
South Hams District Council - Additional Financial Support Schemes 
 

Page 2 of 2  2022.05.26 
 

 
2.6. DCLG Council Tax Funding - in 2021 DCLG awarded the Council £130,649 as an 

additional Hardship Fund to meet the additional costs of the Council Tax Reduction 
scheme due to the additional caseload resulting from increased unemployment.  

 
2.7. The Council allocated this funding to the existing EHF fund to award additional help 

to those most in need. At the end of 2021/22 the Council still has £52k in the fund, 
this is being carried forward into this new financial year to assist more people in 
arrears.       

 
3. Household Support Fund 

 

3.1. On 23rd March 2022, the Government announced in the spring statement that the 
household support fund would be extended from 1 April 2022 to 30 September 
2022. As previously, the fund was made available to County Councils and Unitary 
Authorities in England to support those most in need. DCC is to receive funding of 
£5,064,876.12. At least one third of the funding must be spent on families with 
children and at least one third must be spent on pensioners. The extension of the 
fund should be used in a similar way to the original fund but greater emphasis 
should be put on supporting households with energy bills, although food and water 
bills also remain priorities.  
 

3.2. Household Support Fund – First Scheme (2021/22). 
 

3.2.1. The first scheme funding was split two ways, 50% had to be spent on families 
with children and 50% could be spent on anyone else. The families with children 
element was covered by Devon County Council (DCC). We received 
£91,747.70 this figure includes 10% administration costs. The funding was used 
to assist anyone that required assistance with; 
 

 essential repairs of replacement white goods 

 increased energy bills 

 meter top-ups 

 water bills 

 warm clothing or duvets 
 food 

 

3.3. The Scheme for 2022/23 
 

3.3.1. The second scheme is slightly different to the first one, the DWP have split 
the fund into three,  

 33% to families with children 
 33% to Pensioners  

 33% to everyone else.  
 

3.3.2. Like the first scheme, Devon County Council will fund the cost of free school 
meals holiday vouchers out of the 33% for families with children at a cost of 
£1.7m. 

3.3.3. Team Devon has agreed that all authorities will make a payment of £90 to all 
pensioners that are in receipt of Council Tax Reduction. For South Hams we 
would receive £207,090 to distribute to 2301 claimants.   

3.3.4. Once these payments have been made we will receive a further award of 
£66,628.89 to use at the Council’s discretion as per the first scheme.           

Page 50



Report to: Executive  

Date: 27 May 2022 

Title: Contact Centre Service Review Update 

Portfolio Area: Council Services – Cllr Hopwood 

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken:  

  

Author: Dale Cropper Role: Head of Operations and 
Support Services 

Contact  dale.cropper@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the Executive: 

1. Endorse the approach taken with the Contact Centre review, 
and the subsequent and ongoing Improvement Plan. 

2. To recognise the performance of the Contact Centre and how in 
recent months total calls answered, and calls answered within 5 
minutes has improved. 

3. To note the timescales of the Contact Centre Improvement Plan 
as set out in Appendix A, with a further update on progress in 
six months’ time recommended to be brought to the Executive. 

 
1. Executive summary  

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members on the service review that 

was undertaken across the Contact Centre. 
 

1.2 Within the Council’s Better Lives for All strategy “Delivering Quality Council 
services” is a key theme and the purpose of the review is to improve this 
vitally important front facing service. It is important that we make contacting 
our Council as easy as possible, with clearly defined access options and in 
the most efficient way, whilst supporting those who can to access our 
services online. 

 

1.3. The scope of the Contact Centre Service Review has been: 
 

 To review the overall aim of the Contact Centre and its purpose. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



 To ensure that we are delivering an effective and efficient service that meets 
the needs of the council and its customers. 

 Ensuring emphasis on supporting operational delivery to achieve the 
Council’s wider strategic priorities. 

 To be transparent to our customers about what they can expect when they 
contact us. 

 To consider service design changes to improve performance and the 
customer experience. 

 Consider, consult and implement policy changes to support delivery as 
necessary.  

 To support the formulation and implementation of the customer access 
strategy to support the above, including considering the best methods for 
consulting on service change and engagement.  
 

1.4. As part of the review it was identified that there are some key operational 
areas which need development:  
 

 The opportunity to increase training and coaching for Contact Centre staff so 
customers get the best opportunity of first point resolution. 

 How we can flex resource when needed from the wider teams to support call 
taking in busy times to allow a more flexible use of resource. 

 The increased complexity of calls coming through as a result of “simpler” 
activities being carried out online – increasing the average call time. 

 The planned reopening of reception with a staff force reduced from pre 
pandemic levels due to reallocation of staff. 
 

 
2. Background  

 
2.1 The Contact Centre take calls for most departments in the Council. They also 

directly manage and answer social media enquiries and web chats. Service 
requirements for all these lines vary in terms of how much detail and input is 
required. 
 

2.2 The Contact Centre aims to answer 80% of calls within 5 minutes but this has 
not been delivered consistently. 

 
2.3 Currently the call centre is fully staffed with 10.5 full time equivalents (there 

are 17 staff in total, many of whom are part time). There are currently 6 
vacant posts in the establishment which are currently being filled by agency 
staff.  

 
2.4 For South Hams the budget for this is £306,700 and for West Devon 

£158,300. The Contact Centre operates as a shared service. 
 

2.5 Queue buster is available on all lines to reduce call abandon rates and to 
offer greater flexibility to our customers. This allows the customer the option 
to leave their details and be called back rather than wait in a queue. 184 
customers used this March and 94% customers then answered when the 
system called them back. 

 

2.6 For the last two years reception has been closed through the pandemic and 
the majority of the staff who managed this have been redeployed to other 
areas to support other areas of work. 

Page 52



2.7 Overview and Scrutiny requested a review of the Contact Centre in 
November 21 namely to assess its performance, and ability to meet customer 
needs and look at how we could improve this moving forward.  
 

2.8 Graph 1 below demonstrates the ongoing trend of reducing calls as seen 
over the last 5 years as people use alternative channels is visible below in 
green. 

 
Graph 1 

 

 
 

 
2.9 Performance continues to be challenging in the Contact Centre (set against 

the background of resourcing levels). The table and graph below shows the 
impacts of Covid and Business Grants caused large call volumes however, 
call volumes have reduced in the last 6 months comparative to last year also 
show as a % decrease in green. 

 

 
 

 
2.10 The reason for the comparative reduction in calls is likely as a result of: 

 

Page 53



 The reduction in calls for business grants following the pandemic. 

 A reduction in SH Waste calls following suspension of Garden Waste. 

 The reduction in Waste round review calls from residents following the roll 
out of new collection dates. 

 
 
 
 
 

2.11 The reduction in calls has led to an increase in the % of the total calls 
answered compared to last year. 
 

 
 

2.12 The reduction in calls has also supported the work we are doing in increasing 
of the % of calls answered within 5 minutes in the last five months compared 
to last year. Again the last five months have seen more calls answered within 
5 minutes compared to last year. 

 

 
 
 

2.13 Moving forward we would expect call volumes to continue to follow the 
downward trend we have seen in recent months (and years) as the Council 
continues to improve its online services and more residents use this contact 
method. 
 

2.14 Average handling time for calls and the average wrap time for calls (time 
spent after a call making notes and updating systems) have increased over 
the last 12 months demonstrating that the complexity of the calls being 
delivered is now higher. In essence more and more residents will go online if 
they can, but when they do ring us it is because it’s a more complicated issue 
that they need support with.  

 

Page 54



 
 
 

2.15 The graph above shows how year on year we are seeing how much 
customer contact through online interaction is increasing, in line with calls 
reducing. The last quarter is skewed slightly due to the increased number of 
Council tax calls. 

2.16 As part of the review, 9 key areas were identified as areas to be improved 
made up of 34 specific recommendations. 

 
 

3. Key Deliverables 
3.1. Following the review these are the key outcomes can be summarised as the 

below. 
3.1.1. Corporate Ownership. Improve the involvement and support from all 

the services that the Contact Centre supports in regards to capacity 
planning, training and provision of supporting staff. This needs to be 
improved via the Contact Centre Team Leader and Head of Operations & 
Support Services. There is also the need to define the requirements of 
these services as “users” of the Contact Centre. 
 

3.1.2. Training and Development. Technical training of staff must be 

delivered by the service areas to improve quality and engagement with the 
obvious improvement in customer experience and first point resolution. 
‘Soft skills’ development such as call control and call management, would 
remain within the Contact Centre. 

 
3.1.3. Customer Excellence. The Contact Centre needs to be more of an area 

of professional excellence rather than a stepping stone for officers to new 
roles. Working closely with the Institute of Customer Service to deliver a 
place of work that encourages pride, ownership and teamwork where the 
customer is at the heart of what we do and this forms part of us delivering 
the impact behaviours. 

 
3.1.4. Performance Management. Training, quality checking and coaching of 

the team all needs improvement in terms of frequency and structure which 
needs to be delivered by the Contact Centre Team Leader as defined by 
the Head of Operations & Support Services. This complements the 
mandatory training we do and forms part of a plan for professional 
development.  

 
3.1.5. Proactive management. Day to day running of the Contact Centre 

needs more active involvement from the Contact Centre Team Leader to 

Page 55



drive these changes and take a more progressive approach in managing of 
call and agent performance and overall performance monitoring.  

 
3.1.6. Utilising Technology. Continuing to explore ways in which technology 

can improve our performance both in how we utilise what we have, and 
how we can add to this. For instance we took 35,133 switchboard calls in 
the last 12 months which required officer involvement that could be 
automated. 

 
3.1.7. Workflow. Proxy teams (an additional group of officers outside of the 

call centre) are required to flatten out call arrivals by residing to call peaks 
and must be provided by all the relevant service areas. This will require a 
cultural change to so that calls are seen as a priority by all officers. 

 
3.1.8. Resourcing. Service measures and staffing levels need formally 

reviewing and the impact of the Revenues and Benefits ring-fenced calls 
needs to be reviewed. 

 
3.1.9. Delivery and Transparency. Change the way we report on stats to a 

more clear and transparent approach, and feedback on customer 
satisfaction and overall quality. Proactively share with customers our 
performance and how long it will take to contact us depending on what 
day/time they call us. Use the website to make this more visible. 
 

3.2. It is expected that delivery of these changes and the requirement for the 
support of other services to deliver them, will take 6-12 months but will continue 
to be something to review on continual basis. 
 

3.3. Success should be measured both by a comparison of SLA’s  against 
resourcing levels but also by the encouragement of a peer review. 

 
3.4. Contact Centre staff will start a hybrid approach to working from June where 

groups will return to the office for a few days a week to support team working 
and training. It is expected they will retain the flexibility to also partly work from 
home where appropriate. 

 
4. Progress to date 
 

4.1 A implementation plan and timeline has been drafted which incorporates the 
recommendations from the Review  

4.2 A Project Team has been initiated comprising the Head of Operations & 
Support Services, Contact Centre Team Leader and the Service 
Improvement Manager along with Cllr Hopwood as Portfolio holder. 

4.3 Communications and staff engagement have already seen some 
improvement through monthly face to face team meetings with the Contact 
Centre, which has the outcome of improved team morale and given 
consistent & timely messages. 

4.4 The completion of a service delivery plan setting out the key aims and 
objectives for the Contact Centre supporting the thematic delivery plan has 
been completed. 

4.5 Initial meetings have been held with some services leads around training 
delivery and support of call taking with more scheduled over the coming 
months. 

Page 56



4.6 A business case is being prepared for additional technology to deliver further 
performance improvements.  

4.7 Meetings with Netcall (who provide the telephone system) have been set up 
to see how we can further utilise our existing technology as well as learning 
from their best practice. 

4.8 The ICT service desk staff management has moved from the Contact Centre 
Team Leader to the Head of ICT to free up management capacity. 
 

5. Key Outcomes  
 

5.1 To reduce call waiting times and increase our speed to answer to be 
consistently hitting the calls answered within 5 minutes KPI. This will support 
delivery of “Delivery Quality Council Services”. 

5.2 To improve the customer satisfaction results. 
5.3 To support the delivery of the Customer Access Strategy. 

 

 
6. Proposed way forward 
 
    6.1     To adapt the improvement plan as per the Contact Centre Review. 
    6.2 To review staffing levels and the impact of reopening receptions and what 

impact this may have with staff moved from phone lines to manage this. 
    6.3     To bring a follow up report in 6 months to update on the progress. 

 
 

7. Implications  

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Contact Centre Review supports the strategic aims of 
maximising and making the best use of the Council’s 
resources to enable delivery of the strategic aims and, at 
the same time, enhancing the customer experience, 
access and engagement. 

 
 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money 
 

 There are no expected cost savings as a result of this 
review.  

 

Risk Y That the Council fails to implement the recommendations 
of the Contact Centre Service Review. 
 
That the Council fails to deliver a Contact Centre that meet 
the expectations of Members and our customers   

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact  
 

N  

Page 57



Consultation and 
Engagement 
Undertaken or 
Proposed 

Safeguarding 
Equality and 
Diversity 
Comprehensive 
Impact 
Assessment 
Implications 
Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact  
 
 

 Y By reopening receptions and by adopting the hybrid 
working approach for the Contact Centre, staff will be 
required to travel to work more frequently. 

 

Other 
implications: 
Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 
and Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 
 

N  
 

 
Supporting Information 
Appendices: 
A – Contact Centre Improvement Plan 

 
Background Papers: 
None 

Page 58



March April May June July August September October November December January February March

Leadership & Management

Accountabliity and Results

Corporate Ownership

Training

Resourcing

Performance Management

Customer & Ownership

Workflow

Performance Delivery

Delivery & Transparency

Review

Reopening of Reception?

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Public Question Time
	6 Executive Forward Plan
	7 Housing Crisis Update - Strengthening Housing Delivery
	Appendix 1 – Existing & proposed structure

	8 Council Tax Rebate Discretionary Scheme
	Appendix A – Discretionary policy for the Council Tax Rebate
	Appendix B – Mandatory scheme for the Council Tax Rebate
	Appendix C – South Hams District Council additional financial support schemes

	9 Contact Centre Service Review Update
	Appendix A  – Contact Centre Improvement Plan




Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		South Hams Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme FINAL.pdf




		Report created by: 

		ACS (c), ACS Consultancy , admin@acssupport.co.uk

		Organization: 

		ACS (c) 2022




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 0

		Passed: 30

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top


Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		South Hams Council Tax Rebate Mandatory Scheme.pdf




		Report created by: 

		ACS (c), ACS Consultancy , admin@acssupport.co.uk

		Organization: 

		ACS (c) 2022




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 0

		Passed: 30

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top
